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Foreword
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By Craig L. Symonds

To many, President Franklin D. Roosevelt was, and is, an enigma: to all appearances a relentlessly cheerful man full of good will and bonhomie despite the physical and political burdens he bore as president. Both contemporaries and historians have occasionally wondered if this demeanor was a kind of disguise or a coping mechanism, and some have sought evidence of a darker, more troubled man underneath the veneer. Only a very few ever got close enough to offer testimony about him: his wife Eleanor, his old political pal Louis Howe, Edwin “Pa” Watson, Harry Hopkins, and a few others.

One of them was U.S. Navy Captain John McCrea, who in the days immediately following Pearl Harbor was astonished to be plucked from a pending appointment to command a cruiser and assigned instead as the president’s naval aide. He served in that capacity throughout the critical year of 1942—that is, from Pearl Harbor through Casablanca—during which time he spent part of every day with the president. He did not keep a diary, for that was forbidden by Navy regulations, but many years later, upon the urging of his family, he did write a memoir, which is published here for the first time.

McCrea saw the president every day when he was in Washington, generally once in the morning and again in the afternoon, though he often spent hours or even days in continuous proximity to him. If there was a darker persona lurking under Roosevelt’s veneer, McCrea never saw it. “Invariably,” McCrea writes, “he was in good spirits and eager to talk.” On many of these days, the president was still in bed when McCrea arrived, and occasionally the Navy captain, wearing his service dress blue uniform, sat on the toilet in the bathroom to read briefing papers aloud to the president while he shaved. As the president was pushed to his office in his wheelchair each morning, he greeted everyone he passed with a large smile and a cheerful hello. Cooks, gardeners, maintenance men: he knew their names and their children’s names, and often inquired about their health or their interests. As McCrea noted, “his zest for living was enormous.”

McCrea became FDR’s go-to man for all sorts of errands, from tracking down errant visitors to providing war stories for the president’s Fireside Chats. He set up FDR’s Map Room in the basement of the White House, and he supervised the modifications to the mountain cabin that became Roosevelt’s retreat, initially called Shangri-La and subsequently renamed Camp David. He even attended church services with the president and at least once had to come up with a couple of dollars for the collection plate when FDR forgot to bring his wallet.

Nor was theirs a relationship confined to the White House. He accompanied the president to Hyde Park and got a hair-raising high-speed tour in FDR’s old Ford with its special hand-operated controls. McCrea also supervised the secret trip from Washington to Casablanca for the conference with Churchill. As McCrea writes, “I had the honor and pleasure of coming to know him on a personal basis.”

The topics of their conversations ranged widely. There was a lot about the Navy, of course, a subject always near to the president’s heart, but there were many other topics as well. Once at Hyde Park, the president asked McCrea if he knew much about the history of the Hudson Valley. When McCrea professed ignorance, FDR proceeded to fill him in. As McCrea puts it in the memoir, “He would start off, ‘Well, I’ve been thinking about so-and-so,’ and he would talk.”

In addition to Roosevelt, McCrea’s memoir also offers intimate glimpses into the lives and personalities of many of the principal players in those heady and perilous days. He had a close relationship with FDR’s gatekeeper, Edwin “Pa” Watson, a major general in the Army reserve who acted as FDR’s appointments secretary. He dealt with Navy Secretary Frank Knox, Secretary of State Cordell Hull, former Vice President John Nance Garner, and of course with the chief of naval operations, the stern and forbidding Admiral Ernest J. King.

McCrea’s portrait of King does little to diminish the Admiral’s reputation as cold, judgmental, and quick-tempered. King once counseled McCrea that, while he had the makings of a good officer, he had “one outstanding weakness.” When McCrea asked him what it was, King told him: “you are not a son of a bitch.” “A good naval officer,” King insisted, “has to be a son of a bitch.” Nevertheless, McCrea got on well with King, whom he admired for his professional efficiency, and on more than one occasion he was even able to elicit a “gentle chuckle” from the famously humorless Navy Chief.

But it is always FDR who shines brightest in this memoir. There was the president’s great love of the Navy (which he liked to call “my navy”), his suspicion of the State Department (which he considered “leaky”), and his bantering relationship with the press. The president could be blunt if necessary, even to Churchill, but he always managed to lighten the mood afterward with a kind word or a story, often throwing his head back and laughing aloud. Indeed, laughter seems to have been one of FDR’s principal weapons, deployed frequently and deliberately to fend off enquiries as well as to lighten the mood.

During the conference at Casablanca, Roosevelt tasked McCrea to deliver an invitation for dinner to the Sultan of Morocco, and McCrea paints a vivid word portrait of his reception by the Sultan. “No Hollywood director could have put on a more dazzling spectacle,” he writes. At the dinner, where the sultan presented a gold dagger for the president and a gold tiara for Mrs. Roosevelt, Churchill was visibly upset that in deference to the sultan, no alcohol was served.

McCrea left his job as the president’s naval aide in January of 1943 to take command of the new-construction battleship USS Iowa. His relationship with the president was not at an end, however. Very likely at Roosevelt’s suggestion, King selected the Iowa to carry the president and his staff to Algeria, the first stop on the trip to the Cairo and Tehran conferences. The voyage across the Atlantic included a then-secret but subsequently notorious accident in which a U.S. Navy destroyer inadvertently fired a live torpedo at the Iowa while the president was on board.

In his description of this and other events, McCrea shows why he was successful in his job. His prose is direct, clear, and uncluttered with just the right amount of illuminating detail. Judy Tobey has done a tremendous service to students of the Second World War and of the Roosevelt administration by carefully editing and bringing to publication this elegant yet unpretentious account of the war service of Vice Admiral John McCrea.


Preface
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The story of how this book came to be is a saga of over forty years. When Vice Admiral John McCrea became my stepfather in 1965, he was seventy-three, retired from the navy, and engaged in a second career at John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company in Boston, Massachusetts. I quickly learned that he was a marvelous raconteur, with an eye for detail and an ear for dialogue. Endowed with the memory of an elephant, he was a student of history and human nature, and he delighted in sharing stories—“yarns,” he called them—about his life and naval career.

The richness of his personal experience was extraordinary. He had witnessed countless events of historic interest and encountered an astounding array of world-famous figures. To cite just a few examples, he had heard William Jennings Bryan speak, watched the surrender of the German High Seas Fleet at the end of World War I, worked closely with President Franklin D. Roosevelt, and known Winston Churchill. His yarns about his past were fascinating.

Many urged him to write a book, but he claimed that others had already capably chronicled what he would write about. However, at the urging of family, he began to make a record of his life shortly before his retirement from John Hancock in 1966. Over a period of more than ten years, working entirely alone, he dictated his recollections into a cassette tape recorder, sometimes writing out scripts beforehand as an aid to dictation. Ultimately, he created a continuous narrative on tape covering his family history and childhood through the death of Franklin D. Roosevelt in April 1945, with a few fragments of later material. For significant details, he relied on a huge collection of personal papers, naval documents, speeches, and other materials that he had accumulated during his careers. Most of these papers are now in the Manuscript Room at the Library of Congress in Washington, D.C.

In 1982, Paul Stillwell, a naval historian and then-director of oral history at the U.S. Naval Institute, interviewed John twice and was taken by his personality, his narrative gifts, and the historic value of his recollections. When Paul learned of the cassette tapes in the mid-eighties, he was pleased to learn that John had already created an extensive memoir and helped to arrange for the transcription of the cassettes. John died in 1990 at the age of ninety-eight before the transcriptions were completed.

Starting in the mid-nineties, I began to read the tape transcripts, viewing them as an opportunity to catch up on the yarns I had missed because I didn’t live in the Boston area. I quickly discovered that, despite the memoir’s great length, organizational flaws, and holes where John’s dictation was unintelligible, much of it was delightful and full of intriguing details, some of interest to family and some to historians. I decided to edit the memoir to make it more accessible. My approach was not to cut, but to organize, eliminate duplication, and make the text as accurate and readable as possible while preserving John’s language and voice. I corrected transcription errors, verified names and facts to the extent possible, and supplemented the text with some first-person material from John’s interviews, speeches, and letters. I added a table of contents, chapter titles, and explanatory footnotes for a general reader with no particular knowledge of the navy or World War II.

During the editing process, which continued intermittently over some fifteen years, I was in regular contact with Paul Stillwell. Paul served as an advisor on all things naval and as a guide to others with specialized naval expertise. He also read every chapter and offered substantive comments. The product of this effort was an unpublished electronic document (PDF format) entitled A Naval Life: The Memoirs of Vice Admiral John L. McCrea, U.S. Navy (Retired), edited by Julia C. Tobey.

After completing A Naval Life, I wanted to publish at least a portion of the memoir because I felt it deserved a wider audience. The obvious choice was the section on World War II, the period that John regarded as the high point of his career. To create Captain McCrea’s War, I extracted this section from the long memoir, cut and further edited it, and again added a few excerpts from John’s writings.

Captain McCrea’s War includes a lot of dialogue in quotation marks. John spun his yarns with dialogue, which could change slightly with each telling, so the dialogue is only an approximation of what was said. Materials indented in block quote form are exact quotations.

J.C.T.

January 2016


Introduction
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What did you do during the war? That simple question has elicited a flood of intriguing stories about World War II. Among the most historically significant are these recollections by John McCrea, possibly the last memoir to emerge from the White House of President Franklin D. Roosevelt. Front and center at the heart of the navy’s war effort, McCrea spent the first fourteen months of the war working with President Roosevelt and top Allied leaders, and later held two important commands at sea.

McCrea’s memoir begins with the attack on Pearl Harbor and ends in April 1945, shortly after President Roosevelt’s death. During that time, McCrea held four successive jobs: aide to the chief of naval operations (CNO); naval aide to President Roosevelt; first commanding officer of the battleship USS Iowa; and commander of a North Pacific task force based in Alaska. Although he subsequently rose to higher rank and held other important posts, he regarded these assignments as the highlight of his career. He participated in top-level war planning at the Navy Department and at the first U.S.-British military conference held after the United States joined the war. At the White House, he assisted the president in an astonishing variety of wartime assignments as disparate as setting up the White House Map Room and escorting British Prime Minister Winston Churchill. The president and McCrea spent many hours together, and they developed a warm personal friendship. On leaving the White House, McCrea put the country’s newest and largest battleship into commission, transported the president and the country’s top military brass across the Atlantic, and fulfilled his dream to command in battle. In Iowa, he was responsible for turning the new crew of a new ship into a fighting team with well-honed battle skills and high morale. Afterward, as the commander of a small task force based in the Aleutian Islands of Alaska, he implemented U.S. strategy to make Japan fear invasion from the north by leading bombardment raids on Japan’s Kuril Islands, north of the Japanese homeland. McCrea’s war was nothing if not eventful.

John Livingstone McCrea was born on May 29, 1891 in Marlette, Michigan, a small farming town about fifty miles from Detroit. His father was a country doctor, a Presbyterian Church elder, and a dyed-in-the-wool Republican. His mother was a housewife who cared for the couple’s six children and a stepdaughter, and occasionally served as a surgical assistant for her husband.

McCrea’s school years did not augur well for professional success. He was bright, but a lazy and indifferent student. In high school, he was consumed by a passion for athletics—principally baseball and football—and let his studies slide. With the stern disapproval of his scholarly father, he barely managed to graduate, standing dead last in the class of 1909. He immediately went to work at the Marlette telephone exchange because his father, suffering from diabetes, could no longer afford to send him to college.

The following winter, the father of one of McCrea’s school friends, then a midshipman at the Naval Academy, asked McCrea if he had any interest in the navy. He indicated that he could arrange for McCrea to get an appointment to the Naval Academy and have the opportunity to take the entrance examination. McCrea had never given any thought to a naval career and doubted he could pass the entrance exam, but he thought he’d like to give it a try. As he traveled to Annapolis, Maryland, to see the academy, he was filled with misgivings. But after one look at the beautiful campus, he decided then and there to do whatever it took to become a part of that impressive institution. In the fall of 1910, he attended a preparatory school in Annapolis for those intending to take the academy entrance examination. Casting distractions aside, he hit the books hard, knowing how much schoolwork he had to make up. He took the exam in the spring of 1911, passed, and entered the academy that summer.

McCrea graduated from the Naval Academy in 1915 with a class standing firmly in the bottom half of his class. Fleet Admiral Ernest J. King, who led the navy during most of World War II, and Fleet Admiral Chester A. Nimitz, who commanded naval operations in the Pacific and succeeded King as chief of naval operations, were respectively fourteen and ten classes senior to McCrea. Both had graduated near the top of their classes. However, despite McCrea’s lackluster academic performance, he possessed qualities that made him stand out as an officer. He rose through the navy’s ranks to work closely under King and Nimitz, and they regarded him highly. The story of his development as a naval officer will help to explain why he was entrusted with great responsibility during the war and illuminate the source of some of his core beliefs and practices. His upward naval trajectory was propelled by a combination of personality, job performance, and a bit of good luck.

McCrea had a natural air of authority and looked like a military officer. He was tall, erect, and always impeccably dressed. He also had what was once described as “an attractive personality.” He was quick-witted, charming, and tactful, with a fine sense of humor. In company, he was an engaging raconteur. He liked people and understood them, and they liked him. In 1942, a Washington society columnist once described him in print as “popular Capt. John McCrea.” He was proposed as President Roosevelt’s naval aide in part because his personality would be a good fit with the president’s.

Other traits contributed more directly to McCrea’s naval success. He possessed sound judgment and an exceptional memory, and he was devoted to the navy. Principled and modest, he was secure enough in his authority to entertain a subordinate’s suggestion if he felt it had merit, and he was not intimidated by high rank or powerful personalities. He was willing to speak his mind to his superiors if he felt the matter important, and he was comfortable and effective in the higher echelons of the navy.

Although McCrea’s personality made him an attractive shipmate, it was his performance of duty that primarily fueled his rise. At the Naval Academy, he showed a gift for leadership. During his final year, he was awarded two rotations as company commander in the student military organization, and he discovered that he liked command. In his first two assignments after graduation, he again showed ability, and he developed standards and practices that would become his signature in later years.

McCrea’s first assignment was on the USS New York, a battleship known for the excellence of its officers. McCrea served there for four years, including two years during World War I, when New York was the flagship of a division of U.S. battleships that served with the British Grand Fleet in the North Sea. McCrea absorbed New York’s high standards and applied them on other vessels for the rest of his career. One executive officer (second-in-command of the ship) had a particularly profound influence on him. The officer took a personal interest in the well-being of his subordinates, both officer and enlisted. He showed them respect and occasionally shielded them from the displeasure of higher authority about matters of little significance. In return, the men respected and liked him and gave him superb performance. As will be evident in McCrea’s command style on Iowa, he adopted this approach to leadership.

Just a lieutenant in 1919, McCrea’s second assignment was as the most junior member of the staff of Admiral Hugh Rodman, the first commander in chief of the Pacific Fleet. Rodman had served on New York as commanding officer and later as the admiral in command of the battleship division loaned to the British during the war. Rodman was greatly impressed by McCrea, and when he got the Pacific Fleet command after the war, he asked McCrea to serve as his aide.

Rodman liked to test young officers by giving them assignments beyond their experience to see how they handled themselves. With full knowledge that the Pacific Fleet would soon be downsized and face an acute personnel shortage, Rodman assigned McCrea as fleet personnel officer in charge of fleet staffing. McCrea had grave doubts about his competence for this duty, but he took it on, and, with judgment beyond his years, he performed well, despite heavy criticism from senior fleet officers that their staffing needs were receiving short shrift. As personnel officer, McCrea demonstrated a quality that he prized in others, the ability “to roll with the punches,” to take on any assignment without question and perform well under pressure. This quality would be much in evidence in McCrea’s work at the White House.

At the end of his tour of staff duty, McCrea returned to more rank-appropriate assignments. As was typical in navy practice, he alternated between periods of sea duty and shore duty. When ashore, he took advantage of educational opportunities. He spent a year at the Naval War College, and later he participated in the navy’s challenging postgraduate program in law, working full-time in the Office of the Judge Advocate General (JAG) while earning a bachelor’s degree in law. In two subsequent tours in the JAG Office, he earned a master’s degree in law (although the navy did not require one) and served briefly as acting assistant attorney general.

Although McCrea enjoyed the War College and the law, his passion was sea duty. With his love of command and the challenges and camaraderie of shipboard life, he wanted to be a “line officer,” one who commands in battle. Higher authority took note of some of his impressive early accomplishments at sea. In 1925, in command of his first ship, his quick response to a distress signal on a foggy night in Chefoo, China, enabled him to rescue the passengers on a grounded steamship. As chief of staff to the commander of the Special Service Squadron based in the Panama Canal Zone, he developed a disaster plan for civilian earthquake relief by the U.S. military, and his plan was immediately put into effect when a major earthquake struck Nicaragua. Shortly afterward, he took command of a destroyer judged “a non-effective unit of the fleet” and turned it into a successful performer in less than a year.

By 1936, the chief of the Bureau of Navigation (the navy’s personnel office) had sufficient confidence in McCrea to make an example of him for his fellow officers. Since the turn of the nineteenth century, the navy had operated a naval base and the local government on the island of Guam, an American possession in the mid-Pacific. However, Guam duty was extremely unpopular because naval officers, particularly line officers, viewed assignment there as a sign that their careers were on the rocks. To remove the stigma attached to this duty, and over McCrea’s vigorous objections, the bureau ordered McCrea to the island as executive of the naval base and aide for civil administration to the governor. McCrea was most unhappy about having to expose his family to the primitive conditions and isolation of his new post. He had married Estelle Murphy in 1925, and by this time the couple had two young daughters, Meredith, nine, and Annie, not yet one.

About the time McCrea received his orders, the chief of the Bureau of Navigation wrote him, promising that if McCrea performed as well as expected on Guam, he would subsequently get “a good job in the fleet.” McCrea saved the letter as insurance.

McCrea threw himself into the problems of Guam’s government, employing his law school training in civil subjects for the first and only time. When he started, Pan American Airways was in the process of establishing trans-Pacific passenger service between San Francisco and Hong Kong, with intermediate stops at Honolulu, Midway Island, Wake Island, Guam, and the Philippines. McCrea worked with Pan Am as it set up and staffed its operations, negotiating employment contacts for Guamanian workers and establishing Pan Am’s obligations to the island government. Discovering that Guam’s sole fresh water source was rain, McCrea hired two geologists and initiated a drilling program that produced sixteen fresh water wells during the next year and a half. He stabilized the finances of the Bank of Guam, served as a court magistrate, drafted a disaster plan for earthquakes and typhoons, and improved island education. By the fall of 1937, when McCrea left the island, he had compiled a remarkable record of achievement.

Returning to Washington for his final tour in the JAG Office, Commander McCrea immediately established friendly relations with his detail officer in anticipation of negotiating the “good job in the fleet” he had been promised. In November 1938, he landed a prize assignment: executive officer of the battleship USS Pennsylvania, the flagship of the U.S. Fleet and one of the navy’s most prestigious vessels. As executive, he was responsible for the administration of the ship’s day-to-day operations. He focused hard on preparing for war. Most in the navy, including senior officers, thought it highly unlikely the U.S. would ever go to war.

In August 1940, Captain A. Trood Bidwell, McCrea’s new detail officer and an old friend, contacted McCrea about his next assignment. Bidwell indicated that McCrea would likely be selected for the rank of captain that November, and if so, he could have command of a light cruiser. McCrea was delighted. However, a month later, in a complete change of plan, McCrea was ordered to Washington, D.C., to report to Admiral Harold R. “Betty” Stark, the chief of naval operations (CNO), to prepare a paper entitled “Are We Ready?,” a study of the navy’s preparedness for war.

McCrea had always been lucky in his naval career. Much of this luck involved being an eyewitness to history or a participant in noteworthy events. Later, he would describe these incidents to fascinated listeners in reminiscences that he called “yarns.” One of his yarns from the summer of 1911 was about his role in launching the navy’s third airplane, the very first plane he had ever seen. Built by the Wright brothers and shipped to the Naval Academy in boxes, the biplane was assembled overnight in the armory. It had enough power to fly, but not enough to take off. McCrea had the luck to be one of twenty or so midshipmen selected to run down the parade ground pulling the plane with lines until it achieved enough momentum to take flight. Luck struck again on the New York. In 1915, McCrea was detailed to explain the operation of a 14-inch gun and its firing chamber to an extremely deaf Thomas A. Edison, then studying the effect of heat on metal alloys. Still later, in 1918, McCrea happened to be stationed on the bridge of New York when the German High Seas Fleet surrendered to the British at the end of World War I, and he had the honor of recording the surrender in the ship’s log. He always seemed to be present when something interesting was taking place.

Assignment to the Office of the Chief of Naval Operations was another stroke of luck, far more significant than an occasion to acquire yarn material. The “Are We Ready?” project would give McCrea a chance to acquire broad knowledge of naval operations and war preparedness as war loomed on the horizon. More importantly, he would have the opportunity to work with, and earn the confidence of, the men in charge of the navy.

At the Navy Department, McCrea was assigned an office along the front corridor. He “hoisted aboard” the details of the “Are We Ready?” study as quickly as possible, got Admiral Stark’s approval to say he was acting in Stark’s name, and made significant progress during the fall of 1940. The results met with Stark’s approval, and McCrea felt they hit it off pretty well.

Shortly after McCrea reported to the Navy Department, Captain Richmond Kelly Turner arrived as head of the War Plans Division. He moved into the office next to McCrea’s with a connecting door in between. Turner was a whirlwind who quickly made his presence felt. He took an immediate interest in McCrea’s study. A few days later, he breezed into McCrea’s office and announced that the navy’s Orange war plans for armed conflict with Japan were completely inadequate, and he was going to write new ones. He needed peace and quiet, so he was going to lock his front office door, and told McCrea to intercept any uninvited visitors. As the fall progressed, McCrea saw more of Turner, who showed a continuing interest in McCrea and his work.

Early in Thanksgiving week, Turner announced, to McCrea’s surprise, that he wanted McCrea to deliver and explain the new Orange war plans to the commanders in chief of the U.S. and Asiatic Fleets. In minutes, Stark summoned McCrea to his office and indicated he and Captain Turner wanted McCrea for an important, top secret officer messenger assignment to Admiral James O. Richardson, commander in chief of the U.S. Fleet in Pearl Harbor, and Admiral Thomas C. Hart, commander in chief of the U.S. Asiatic Fleet in the Philippines. He was to depart in early December on a trip of at least a month, and no one but the three of them was to know about it.

Turner gave McCrea a crash course in the war plans. Besides studying, McCrea had many arrangements to make. He was to fly to Asia on civilian aircraft, traveling incognito as a civilian.

As Christmas approached, he felt increasingly uncomfortable keeping the trip from his wife. Finally, a week before his departure, he obtained Stark’s permission to tell Estelle he would be traveling over Christmas without giving her any details. She was taken aback and disappointed, but she promised to keep the trip a secret.

On December 13, McCrea flew out of Washington, D.C., with a briefcase of war plans. He would not reach his destination in the Philippines for twenty-four days, largely due to the inability of the aircraft of the day to cope with bad weather. McCrea’s experience flying across the Pacific provides a striking glimpse of the best in commercial aviation in the early 1940s.

McCrea booked flights to Honolulu and the Philippines on Pan American’s trans-Pacific Clipper service, the same service he had helped to organize in Guam and the only one offering flights across the Pacific. In the late afternoon at San Pedro harbor in Los Angeles, he boarded his Clipper—a large, luxury seaplane. On takeoff, the Clipper immediately encountered stiff headwinds and bucked about. At about eleven o’clock in the evening, the plane’s captain appeared in the passenger lounge for a cup of coffee and told an astonished McCrea that they were headed back to California. Pan Am required its planes to return to the coast if they got halfway to the Hawaiian Islands with less than a required amount of gas. The next morning, at the captain’s invitation, McCrea joined him on the bridge as he attempted to land the plane. Heavy fog blanketed southern California, so they headed north. When they finally set down in San Francisco Bay, they had flown 22.5 hours and traveled, as the crow flies, a distance of only 400 miles.

McCrea stayed at a hotel waiting for the next westbound Clipper, but bad weather persisted. After four days, Pan Am told him that a plane was leaving that afternoon, but it would take no passengers. Pan Am’s contract with the U.S. Post Office required that mail be given preference at all times, and much mail had accumulated. McCrea immediately called Admiral Stark, who called the postmaster general and asked him to offload enough mail so McCrea and another officer could reach Pearl Harbor. On boarding the plane, they discovered that all the seats had been removed to accommodate the cargo, and that night, after a stiff drink, they slept fully clothed on sacks of mail.

McCrea arrived at Pearl Harbor on December 21. He spent several days briefing Admiral Richardson and his staff about the revised war plans. Afterward, he was delayed again by weather in Honolulu and by engine trouble at Midway. He finally reached Manila on January 6, 1941. Just two years later, President Roosevelt would fly another Clipper with similar limitations across the Atlantic during wartime.

In the Philippines, Admiral Hart invited McCrea to stay in his cabin on board his flagship. The opportunity to get to know Admiral Hart was a highlight of McCrea’s trip. McCrea was impressed by Hart’s thoughtful analysis of the international situation, and the two discussed the war plans and naval and local government affairs at length.

On Admiral Stark’s instructions, McCrea met with General MacArthur, who was then temporarily retired from the U.S. Army and serving as military advisor to the Commonwealth Government of the Philippines. The general talked about the war in Europe and North Africa. He spoke while striding up and down in his office with cigar in hand, occasionally shaking it in McCrea’s direction by way of emphasis. He remarked that the Germans had missed their chance to win the war when they failed to overwhelm the British at Dunkirk and invade the British Isles. He attributed this failure to the Germans’ inability to resist the temptations of Paris. McCrea wondered cautiously about U.S. involvement in the war. MacArthur’s thundering reply: “It is inevitable that we, the United States, will actively participate in this war. Do you think we would build up a $20 billion machine and not use it?”

Admiral Hart had described MacArthur as being “positive in his views,” and knowing “many things that are not so.” When McCrea reported the general’s remark about the Germans’ inability to resist the temptations of Paris, Hart dismissed it out of hand. He thought the Germans lacked the amphibious capability to invade England. It was clear to McCrea that Hart did not think highly of MacArthur.

McCrea left Manila on January 20. With the exception of two hours flying at an altitude of two hundred feet to avoid turbulence, McCrea’s Clipper flights east were without incident. Since McCrea’s departure from Washington, Admiral Richardson had been ordered to be detached as commander in chief, U.S. Fleet, and Rear Admiral Husband E. Kimmel had been named as his relief. Kimmel, a long-time friend of McCrea, was already at Pearl Harbor, and McCrea met with both admirals on his return trip. Both expressed the view that Pearl’s air defenses were inadequate, and the situation needed immediate attention.

On returning to Washington, McCrea gradually finished the “Are We Ready?” project. Not long afterward, Admiral Stark asked him to move into his office to serve as his third aide. McCrea spent much of his time on the admiral’s heavy correspondence with the commanders afloat. Communications from the fleets were usually filled with questions, and McCrea drafted replies with information he dug out of the bureaus and offices. He found this work most interesting, and delighted in seeing how fast he could get answers to the people in the field. He also prepared Admiral Stark for meetings with President Roosevelt, and from time to time the admiral told him what the president had on his mind. During the summer, McCrea was promoted to the rank of captain.

As 1941 progressed, the international situation deteriorated. Stark received a visit from Admiral Kichisaburo Nomura, the Japanese ambassador to the United States. Nomura had sought the meeting because the field of diplomacy was new to him, and he felt more at ease talking to another sailor than to a diplomat. He was disturbed at the trend of diplomatic negotiations between Japan and the United States. He stated that the military in control of his government were highly provincial, with little knowledge of world affairs. He felt the United States would win any war with Japan because it had virtually unlimited resources, but his government didn’t seem to understand Japan’s limitations. Nomura assured Stark he would make every effort to avert a war.

By fall, most in the Navy Department thought war was imminent, although those on the front corridor were aware of efforts to negotiate with Japan. On November 27, Kelly Turner, by then a rear admiral, handed Admiral Stark a dispatch he had drafted. It was from the chief of naval operations to the commanders in chief of the Asiatic and Pacific Fleets. Turner recommended that the dispatch be sent at once. Its opening sentence read, “This dispatch is to be considered a war warning.” It indicated that a Japanese aggressive move was expected shortly in the Philippines or Southeast Asia.

Admiral Stark immediately called a conference. Those present were Rear Admiral Turner; the president of the navy’s General Board, an advisory body comprised of senior officers; the assistant chief of naval operations; and two of Stark’s aides, including McCrea. Admiral Stark read the proposed dispatch aloud. He questioned the bluntness of the opening sentence. Pointed discussion followed. In the end, the war warning remained, and the dispatch was sent.

During the fourteen months preceding the transmission of the war warning dispatch, McCrea had acquired a unique combination of knowledge, experience, and trust. He had earned the confidence of the chief of naval operations. He was familiar with the CNO’s interactions with the fleet commanders in the Pacific, he had written the report on the navy’s war preparedness, and he knew as much as anyone about the navy’s revised plans for war with Japan. He was poised to become an invaluable figure in the navy’s war effort.


Chapter 1

The United States Goes to War

[image: images]

Everyone old enough to remember the attack on Pearl Harbor has his tale to tell about what he was doing that day. This is mine. On the morning of 7 December 1941, a Sunday, I noted in the paper that newsreels of the Army-Navy football game would be shown at the Trans-Lux Theater that afternoon. My daughter Meredith and I thought it would be fun to go.

After lunch, we took off for downtown Washington. I stopped at the Army-Navy Club to cash a check. While I was at the desk, a brother officer who lived at the club came rushing down the stairs and asked if I was headed for the Navy Department. I countered that I was taking my daughter to the movies.

“Evidently you haven’t heard, John,” said he. “Pearl Harbor is under enemy attack.”

Of course, that called for an immediate change in plans. Meredith assured me she could make her way home by public transportation. My friend and I drove to the Navy Department in my Ford.

Arriving at the department, I found that my boss, Chief of Naval Operations Admiral Stark, was already there. As was his habit, he had come to the office on Sunday morning to work. When I entered his office, he was trying to establish long-distance scrambler contact with Admiral Claude C. Bloch, commandant of the Fourteenth Naval District at Pearl Harbor. At Admiral Stark’s direction, I manned the telephone on my desk, which had a switch to Admiral Stark’s line. After some little delay, contact was made with Admiral Bloch. The conversation went something like this.

“Claude,” said Admiral Stark, “tell me all you can about the attack. Is the damage severe?”

“Betty, how secure is this scrambler telephone?”

“I really don’t know, but go ahead, Claude, and give me all the information you can.”

“The damage is severe, Betty, but at this moment I can’t tell you how severe. I can only talk in generalities.”

And then Admiral Bloch proceeded to give us one bit of bad news after another. Finally, Admiral Bloch said, “If anyone other than Admiral Stark and I have overheard this conversation, I beg of them, as loyal citizens, to keep the nature of this conversation to themselves.” I scratched out a longhand memorandum of the conversation and gave it to Admiral Stark. He disappeared down the corridor to the office of Frank Knox, secretary of the navy.

At a free moment, I called my wife, Estelle, to find out if Meredith had made it home. I told Estelle to get out my service uniforms, because an order was going out that afternoon that all naval personnel from here on would be in uniform. “No, I don’t know when I’ll be home. I’ll let you know when I leave the office. Keep tuned to your radio. You’re bound to hear items of interest.”

The telephone jangled all afternoon as more information became available. There were a number of telephone calls between Admiral Stark and Admiral Bloch. I monitored all these calls and prepared memoranda about the details. Admiral Stark called Captain John Beardall, naval aide to President Roosevelt, so that Beardall could keep the president informed. The admiral also made many visits to the office of Secretary Knox.

The extent of the damage was staggering. The only positive news was that the Japanese had not attacked the navy yard installation or the tank farm, where thousands and thousands of barrels of fuel oil were stored.

Between 6:30 and 7:00 p.m., Admiral Bloch called again with more information. I wrote up another memorandum and took it in to Admiral Stark.

“John,” said he, “run this down to the secretary. He has seen enough of me this afternoon. Besides, I am a bit weary.” I proceeded to the secretary’s office and announced that I had a memorandum for him. “Go right in,” said the officer in the secretary’s outer office.

I entered the secretary’s inner office, but I did not see him. I stood there a moment or two, unsure of what to do. I thought I heard a noise coming from his washroom. I coughed to make my presence known, and Secretary Knox stuck his head out of the washroom.

“Oh, it’s you, Captain,” said he. “Come right in. Come right in. This has been a strenuous afternoon, and I was preparing a small drink of bourbon for myself in the hopes that it would raise my spirits a bit. Won’t you join me?”

“Well, Mr. Secretary,” said I, “I have never had a drink in the Navy Department, but I agree that this has been a strenuous afternoon. Of course, I can hardly decline an invitation from my chief.”

The secretary had the bottle in his hand, and he poured a drink for himself and one for me. He raised his glass and said, “Now that the war is here, despite its tragic start,” said he, “I am counting on the navy to acquit itself well.”

“I can drink to that, Mr. Secretary,” said I. And between sips, we discussed the happenings of the day and the memo that I had in my hand.

In due course, I thanked the secretary for his hospitality and withdrew. I went immediately to acquaint Admiral Stark with the details of my visit. “I was wondering what was keeping you,” he said, with a smile on his face and in his voice. “It’s been a rugged afternoon, hasn’t it?” I had to agree.

One of the visitors to the office early that evening was Admiral Richmond Kelly Turner. He went in to see Admiral Stark and stayed a considerable time. On his way out, he stopped to speak to me.

“You will recall that shortly after I reported as chief of war plans, I detailed you to watchdog duty to keep people out of my office. Now that war has arrived, Admiral Stark will be busier than ever. He will have much to do, and he will have to do a lot of thinking. Because of Admiral Stark’s nature, it’s going to be very hard for him to say ‘no’ to visitors. You must keep people out of his hair.” Admiral Turner was most emphatic.

“That’s a big job,” I responded. “I can do my best to persuade people not to go in, but lacking an order to do so, my position wouldn’t be very sound.”

“I’ll think about it,” said Admiral Turner.

I got home between 2:30 and 3:00 a.m. and snatched a couple of hours’ sleep. Then I got into uniform and went back to the office. On my desk, I found a memorandum to the effect that, because of hostilities, the availability of the chief of naval operations would be sharply limited, and anyone who wished to see Admiral Stark should call Captain McCrea regarding an appointment.

I had hardly finished reading when Admiral Turner appeared in my office. He told me that the evening before he had counseled Admiral Stark that he must conserve time and energy and he needed to work without distractions. Pointing to the memorandum, Turner said, “I whipped this up last night, and right now some 900 copies are being distributed in the Navy Department. Let me know as soon as Admiral Stark comes in. I wish to tell him what I have done. I think he will approve.”

A few days later, after I had learned more details about the Japanese attack, I recalled the evening in January 1941 when Admiral Hart and I had discussed Japan’s high-ranking naval officers. Admiral Hart’s intelligence officer, Commander Redfield “Rosie” Mason, was also present. I had suggested it might be of interest to have thumbnail sketches of the flag officers most likely to be met in combat, should war occur. They came up with sketches of six officers.

I checked my trip notes to see whether Admiral Yamamoto had been one of the officers discussed that night.1 He was number two on the list. My notes read:

Energetic. Highly able. Bold in contrast to most, who are inclined to be cautious. Decisive. He has an American viewpoint. Formerly naval attaché in Washington. London Arms Conference delegate. Well versed in international affairs. A wounded veteran, having lost two fingers at Tsushima. Highly thought of by rank and file of the Orange Navy. Personally likes Americans. Plays excellent bridge and poker. Alert in every way. Very air-minded.

I was impressed with the accuracy of the sketch.

Of course, my friend Admiral Kimmel was in command of the naval forces at Pearl Harbor at the time of the Japanese attack. He was relieved of command immediately afterward and subsequently blamed for many of the navy’s failures in connection with the attack. My heart went out to him. I know of no one who worked harder at being a good naval officer. In my opinion, if we had had Horatio Nelson and Napoleon Bonaparte out there, Pearl Harbor would still have happened as it did. The country simply wasn’t ready for it.

Events moved rapidly during the month of December. During Christmas week, Prime Minister Winston Churchill and the British joint chiefs arrived in the United States in a large and heavily armed Royal Navy ship. The ship anchored in Annapolis Roads, a short distance from the Naval Academy. President Roosevelt drove to Annapolis to welcome the prime minister. On their arrival in Washington, the prime minister took up residence in the White House. He set up his traveling war room, and he was in business.

On Sunday, 23 December, Admiral Stark called to say that the president had called a conference at the White House for 6:00 p.m. that evening, and the admiral wished me to accompany him. The meeting was held in the president’s second-floor study. Admiral Stark introduced me to the president. We were all introduced to the prime minister, who in turn introduced his chiefs of staff.

The president presided at the meeting. After a few general remarks, he announced that the prime minister would acquaint us with his views on the current crisis. This the PM did, with his well-publicized eloquence. He deplored the despicable philosophy of Nazism and the violence that it had produced on the continent. “Our immediate objective is to destroy the economy of the enemy, which enables it to support its military operations. With this accomplished, our next objective should be to meet the enemy on the continent and bring about its total military destruction.”

The meeting lasted an hour or so. A drink was had, and a cracker or two. When the group broke up, Admiral Stark and I walked back to the Navy Department. On the way he said, “Well, John, what did you think of it?” After stumbling a bit, I remarked that I had had the privilege of attending a historic conference, for which I thanked him. He agreed that the conference might well be considered historic.2

A senior British-U.S. military group—that is, the British joint chiefs and U.S. representatives of the army and navy—commenced a series of meetings the very next afternoon. The U.S. leaders were the chief of staff of the army, General George Marshall, and the chief of naval operations, Admiral Stark. The British joint chiefs were First Sea Lord Admiral Sir Dudley Pound, chief of the Royal Navy; Air Chief Marshal Charles Portal, chief of the Royal Air Force; and the head of the British Army, Field Marshal Sir Alan F. Brooke, whose title was chief of the Imperial General Staff.

General Marshall designated Colonel William Sexton to be the army’s secretary at these meetings. Admiral Stark designated me as secretary for the navy. This was the first time I had ever done anything along that line, and I was far from pleased with my performance.

While these meetings were going on, matters of personal importance took place. On the afternoon of 2 January 1942, I was at my desk struggling with my notes of the meetings when Rear Admiral Randall Jacobs, chief of the Bureau of Navigation, stuck his head in my office door. “John, how fast can you move?”

“Awfully fast,” said I, quickly on my feet, “especially if it’s the cruiser command that I understand Captain Carpender has been saving for me.”3

“Well,” said Admiral Jacobs, “forget the cruiser, John. But it’s an important job just the same.”

The door closed and he was off, leaving me in a state of wonderment. My little secretary, the charming Miss Margaret Dudley, said, “What does he mean?”

“I wish I knew,” was my reply.

In about ten minutes, Admiral Jacobs returned. He handed me a copy of a memorandum signed by the secretary of the navy, which stated:


Memorandum for the President

It is my desire to appoint Captain John R. Beardall, U.S. Navy, at present serving as your naval aide, to the recently vacated position of superintendent of the United States Naval Academy, Annapolis, Maryland, provided such appointment is satisfactory to you. I nominate as his relief in his present position as your naval aide, Captain John L. McCrea, U.S. Navy. Captain McCrea has served in naval operations for a period of about fifteen months and for the past seven months has been aide to the chief of naval operations. He is thoroughly conversant with the present state of naval affairs. His professional record and his personality are such as to indicate that he would be an excellent naval aide for you.

Frank Knox



Before I had finished reading, Admiral Jacobs had gone.

As far as I knew, Admiral Stark knew nothing of this memorandum. I immediately entered his office. Admiral Ernest J. King was with him, engaged in friendly conversation.4 Getting straight to the point, I told Admiral Stark about the memorandum and said I did not know how it had come about. I told him about the promised cruiser command. Then I listed rather heatedly all my reasons for not wishing to go to the White House, including my view that the assignment would be an expensive one that I could not afford.

Both admirals King and Stark sat there quietly until I had finished. Admiral Stark remarked, “I have been aware of this proposal for some days. Admiral King and I agree that you should be made available to the president. We talked it over with the secretary, and that is how this memorandum came to be. We both wish you luck.”

At this point, Admiral King broke in crisply, saying, “This country is at war, and you can afford anything your assignment might require. Besides, you will get a modest additional aide’s allowance in that job.”

As to Admiral King’s first remark, I thought it well not to remind him that it had been common knowledge around the Navy Department that he had not so long ago left a Washington assignment early because he couldn’t afford Washington duty. As to an allowance, I quickly responded that there was no allowance for the job of naval aide to the president. That was a surprise to Admiral King.

At this point, Admiral Stark joined the conversation. “I’m sure that the president will accept you as his naval aide, and, in that event, I think it wise for me to give you a bit of advice that I think you need. When you are naval aide to the president, and you find yourself in disagreement with him, I recommend that you not raise your voice to him as you do to me when you disagree with me.”

Of course, I was taken aback. Admiral Stark laughed lightly. Admiral King smiled somewhat. I remarked, “Admiral Stark, if I raised my voice to you, it was not in any way in disrespect. If I raised my voice, it was because of my earnestness in whatever proposition that I was supporting. And I am grateful to you for the caution that you have just given me.” All three of us laughed, and the incident was over. I withdrew.

On 3 January 1942, the secretary’s memorandum to the president was returned to the secretary. On it, in large capital letters in the president’s handwriting, was the notation:


FK

OK

FDR



My orders for this change of duty were carried out on 16 January 1942. And that is how I came to go to the White House as naval aide to FDR.5



1     Admiral Isoroku Yamamato, commander in chief of the Combined Fleet of the Imperial Japanese Navy, conceived of the plan to attack Pearl Harbor.

2     The meeting McCrea attended was part of the first Washington conference of President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill after the United States became a belligerent. The conference was code-named Arcadia (December 22, 1942–January 14, 1943). At the conference, the president, the prime minister, and top U.S. and British military leaders met to review the status of the war and plan for the future.

3     Before the Pearl Harbor raid, Captain Arthur S. Carpender, assistant chief of personnel at the Bureau of Navigation, offered McCrea a command in a cruiser division Carpender was to command. McCrea eagerly accepted.

4     Stark thought highly of King’s abilities. He appointed King commander in chief of the U.S. Fleet, a position restructured after the Pearl Harbor attack to confer authority over all U.S. naval forces wherever located.

5     McCrea reported to the White House after the Arcadia Conference, where several significant actions were taken. The conferees decided that the defeat of Germany would take priority over the war against Japan. They executed a Declaration by the United Nations, affirming that none of the countries at war with the Axis Powers would make a separate peace with the enemy. Finally, they gave the task of developing U.S.-British war strategy to a new body called the Combined Chiefs of Staff based in Washington, D.C. By mid-summer 1942, the United States was represented on the CCS by a Joint Chiefs of Staff, whose membership would remain constant for the rest of the war: Admiral William D. Leahy, chairman, chief of staff to the commander in chief of the U.S. Army and Navy; General George C. Marshall, chief of staff of the U.S. Army; Admiral Ernest J. King, chief of naval operations and commander in chief of the U.S. Fleet; and General Henry H. “Hap” Arnold, chief of the army air forces.
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